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This Annual Report was nearly finalised just before the sad passing of David Massie. 

David was the visionary behind the founding of the Wey Education Group and he completed the acquisition of InterHigh 
and Academy 21, the group’s leading education brands.

David also used his considerable experience and contacts to initiate opportunities in Africa and Asia. He was committed 
to online education and felt that Wey could really make a difference to children’s education, whatever their circumstance 
or wherever their location. 

The Board of Directors wishes to express its profound sadness regarding David’s passing and to also note its thanks for his 
vision, guidance and support.

The opportunities for online education remain boundless, and after a period of reflection, the Board is determined to take 
the Wey business forward and carry on with David’s tenacity and ambition allied with its members’ own experience and 
drive. 

In the circumstances, the Board feels it appropriate to leave David’s Chairman’s Statement intact. It reflects substantial 
progress for the Group and his desire to continue to push forward. Individual Reports will now be signed by Jacqueline 
Daniell, Interim CEO and Barrie Whipp, Interim Chairman.

Finally, the Board has taken this opportunity to establish the David Massie Awards. Each year, at the discretion of the Board, 
three  teachers will be offered financial support to help their own education and three students will be offered financial 
assistance to help them achieve a further educational goal.
 
And finally, a quote from one of our dedicated team of teaching staff…

When I first joined InterHigh I very much saw it as a stop gap before returning 
to the physical classroom once my children were older.  However, I have now 
completely revisited this idea as I have become fully converted to the power of 
online education. For this, I have David Massie to thank.

“

A message from the Board of Directors
David Laurence Massie 1955-2018

Liz Kendrick
Maths Teacher

InterHigh

The Board of Directors
Wey Education Plc

“
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
Wey Education plc

Dear Shareholder

I am very pleased to report to shareholders on a year of significant growth and achievement. 

Financial Highlights

Group turnover of £4.2 million for the year to 31 August 2018 (2016/17 £2.4 million) represented 
growth of 72.6% year on year. It included partial contribution from Academy 21 which was acquired 
in December 2017. Underlying turnover grew by approximately 29.2%.
 
Much of this year has been spent on building the foundations for further growth and, in certain 
areas, spending was at higher than normal annual levels. In accordance with IFRS all this 
expenditure will be expensed in the Company’s audited accounts for the year ending 31 August 
2018. However, to provide shareholders with a more meaningful method of measuring the 
Group’s progress, year on year, we have calculated our Adjusted EBITDA to reflect non-recurring 
costs as set out below.

This calculation includes a total of £238,466 of non-continuing marketing and international costs 
which have been added back to arrive at adjusted EBITDA.
 
The statutory loss was £196,381 (2017: profit £17,630) and the EPS loss was 0.16p (EPS 2017: 0.02p)
 
The Group remains well funded for future expansion with cash balances of over £4.2 million at 
year end. 

  2017/18   2016/17 
REVENUE       
Existing activities 3,138,207   2,429,055 
Acquisition 1,053,666   - 
TOTAL 4,191,873   2,429,055 
        
Cost of sales (1,950,045)   (1,221,009) 
        
GROSS PROFIT 2,241,828   1,208,046 
        
Adjusted administrative expenses (1,789,259)   (1,035,627) 
        
Adjusted EBITDA 452,569   172,419 
        
Adjusted EPS (p) 0.37   0.17 
Adjusted Fully Diluted EPS (p) 0.33   0.15 
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Operational Review
 
The Group undertook a number of significant initiatives during the year.
 

• The Group’s new “state of the art” online learning platform went live on 1 September 
2017 and has performed extremely well and has attracted praise from both teachers 
and students. This new technology cements the Group’s position as the leading online 
schools group in the UK. The Learning Platform combines a number of market leading 
software packages to produce a powerful, flexible IT system capable of delivering 
lessons to anywhere in the world with an internet connection. The Learning Platform 
has been designed to be scalable to almost any quantum of student use and is 
available to students in all our target geographic locations 24 hours a day, 7 days a 
week, 365 days a year.

 
• During the year a number of marketing initiatives were trialled including large scale 

brand awareness campaigns, but results suggest that in both student recruitment and 
overall spend these were not as effective as the Group’s traditional online marketing 
and use of social media. Concentration of marketing efforts in the current year has 
reverted to our traditional channels and is showing a significant increase in opportunities 
already.

 
• The core Interhigh business grew turnover by 20% and it is expected that this will 

accelerate in the current year.
 

• In December 2017 the Company acquired Academy 21, a provider of online secondary 
teaching to pupils in the state school and other public-sector bodies. The acquisition 
has been successfully integrated and has performed very well with both sales growth 
and improved profitability post acquisition. The Group has created a unified B2B 
sales force, closed the Academy 21 local office and integrated all administrative and 
accounting systems. B2B revenues grew more than management anticipated and 
further expansion is expected in 2018/19.

 
• The group concluded a £5 million oversubscribed placing at 22p per share in 

November 2017 primarily with institutional investors. The funds were partly used for 
the acquisition of Academy 21 and to fund other initiatives. At the year end, the Group 
retains substantial cash resources of £4.2m.

 
• In addition to my own move from non-executive to Executive Chairman, two senior 

appointments were made in 2018. Barry Nichols-Grey was appointed Company 
Secretary and Finance Director (Designate) in April 2018. Barry has now been promoted 
to Executive Director and joins the Plc board. Tony Knowles joined as Executive Director 
of Human Resources in May 2018, reflecting the importance of human resources in our 
otherwise online business where the majority of our staff work remotely from Head 
Office.
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Geographic Analysis
 
The Group has an active export business served from the UK. An analysis of turnover for the year 
shows that 14.8% of 2018 turnover arose outside the UK (2017: 23.6%) which reflected growth in 
the UK business rather than a decline in export sales. At £620,259 (2017: £573,112) export sales 
were up 8.2%.

Artificial Intelligence (“AI”)
 
The Group has taken its first steps on AI introducing certain features into lessons. Further 
applications have been commissioned in areas such as “induction of new pupils” to automate 
current manual processes. A longer-term plan for greater use of AI is under development and 
the Group is conducting further research in partnership with the University of South Wales.
 
The Group

When Wey was first admitted to AIM in December 2015, it consisted of one online school and 
a very small consultancy business. The consulting business was discontinued in 2015/16 to 
pursue other areas with more growth potential. Today there are five divisions within the group. 

The main operating divisions are:-

InterHigh (www.interhigh.co.uk), a non-selective fee-paying secondary school, established 
in 2005 and a pioneer in online education. It provides live, interactive teaching of the British 
curriculum for years 5 – 13 including teaching both iGCSE and A levels and with some vocational 
courses, particularly in computer gaming. It is a complete school with full academic, pastoral and 
enrichment programmes ensuring that the young people who join the school study successfully 
for their future career choices. InterHigh continues to expand and pupil numbers are at an all-
time high.

 UK Europe 
Middle 

East Africa 
Other 

countries Total 
2018 £ £ £ £ £ £ 
Online Education 3,553,063 275,949 183,715 29,531 132,064 4,174,322 
Other 17,551 - - - - 17,551 
       
Total 3,570,614 275,949 183,715 29,531 132,064 4,191,873 
       
2017 £ £ £ £ £ £ 
Online Education 1,830,809 246,493 165,777 54,123 106,719 2,403,921 
Other 25,134 - - - - 25,134 
       
Total 1,855,943 246,493 165,777 54,123 106,719 2,429,055 
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Wey ecademy (www.weyecademy.com) was established in 2016/17. Wey ecademy forms part 
of the Group’s B2B division. It provides services and tuition to and for other education providers 
and schools both in the UK and overseas across a broad range of subjects and curricula. This can 
be teaching of individual subjects or a wider range of subjects including iGCSE and A levels or 
specialist vocational courses. The Wey ecademy can offer short term support for a young person 
with the aim of re-engaging them in their education or we can offer a more comprehensive 
longer-term service depending on what is required.  From a modest base, pupil numbers already 
exceed the target planned to have on the student roll at the end of the Autumn term. 

Academy21 (www.academy21.co.uk) was acquired by the group in December 2017 and forms 
part of the Group’s B2B division. It is an online educational business that provides a range of Key 
Stage 3, GCSE and iGCSE programmes to pupils who have been referred by local authorities 
and schools across the UK. Its customers tend to engage its services for short periods of 
approximately six weeks, which may be extended or repeated, in contrast to typical students 
of Wey’s principal school, InterHigh, who tend to be at InterHigh for several years. As such, the 
Academy21 business complements Wey’s existing business giving access to short term tuition 
teaching which can extend the Wey customer base.  It delivers alternative provision to schools 
and local authorities during the UK. The group has successfully grown the business since 
acquisition, integrating it into the B2B division.

Infinity Education (www.infinityeducation.org.uk) which was established to be a selective 
premium fee-paying online school. However, following customer feedback which indicated 
continuing support for InterHigh’s academic achievements, we have now decided to realign 
Infinity to primarily address overseas markets. Pupils will be those aiming to achieve top grades 
at both iGCSE and A Level and to move on to study at leading universities in the UK and overseas. 

Quoralexis (www.quoralexis.com) established in September 2017, is an online live interactive 
language school that will welcome students from all parts of the world, who wish to learn English 
and improve their language skills. Quoralexis offers an extensive range of courses in English as 
a Foreign Language (“EFL”), for individuals and the corporate sector, across all age groups and 
all language ability levels. 
 
The Group has taught EFL within InterHigh for some years to assist certain of its overseas 
students and has now created a separate business unit to address this very large international, 
but fragmented market. The Board believes that the Group’s offering of “English taught by 
native British teachers” from the UK delivered via its sophisticated Learning Platform will prove 
attractive to customers at the quality end of the market. Quoralexis will expand the Group’s 
offering from just children of secondary education age to all age groups, whether students be 3 
years or 70 years old.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Wey Education plc
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Staffing

Management functions, administrative staff and senior teaching personnel are based at the 
Group’s administrative headquarters in Crickhowell, Wales while teaching staff are home based. 
At 1 September 2018, analysis of the Group’s staff was as follows:-

   Age Bracket            Number of Staff
    19-28:     6
    29-38:     23
    39-48:     33
    49-58:     28
    59-68:     18
    69-78:     2
     Total:     110

The Group is proud that its Human Resources policy allows many qualified teachers to work from 
home and balance the need to pursue a career with their own caring responsibilities whether 
they be in respect of children or aged parents. Wey allows such employees to choose to work a 
full week or a percentage of such and be paid pro rata.

Outlook

The Group remains in a dynamic phase of expansion offering a market leading product to a 
largely untapped sector.  The year has started encouragingly and sales activity in the Interhigh 
and B2B divisions are materially ahead of the equivalent position at this time last year.
 
The Group’s emphasis this year is to generate more sales utilising the new Learning Platform and in 
particular to grow its core InterHigh and B2B sales while nurturing its businesses in development 
stage including Quoralexis, our online English language school.  The Group has a number of 
other initiatives under consideration but will be careful to balance the time, commitment and 
expense of these with building on the excellent progress made in its core divisions over the last 
two years.
 
The Board has recently reviewed its plans and budgets for the coming year and while setting 
challenging targets which will see the group expand significantly, has decided to be very prudent 
in relation to the pace at which it assumes its overseas sales will grow.  Average growth of group 
turnover in the last three years has been 66% per annum. The Board’s ambition is to maintain 
that trend in the current year and beyond and any acceleration in overseas development should 
enhance this figure further.

It is expected that the emphasis placed upon core Interhigh recruitment and B2B will influence 
results throughout the year while other initiatives will be concentrated in the second half.

Wey Education plc Annual Report 201807
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Capital Reconstruction
 
The Capital Reconstruction approved by shareholders at the General Meeting on 24 September 
2018 awaits a further court hearing for the High Court to sanction the proposals. Assuming such 
is granted, the effects will be reflected in the 2018/19 accounts. 

Shareholders

The prevalence of nominee holdings makes it difficult for listed companies to communicate 
directly with its shareholders. Therefore, the Directors were very pleased that a number of 
individual shareholders were able to attend its private investor shareholder evenings held in 
London during the year. The Group’s provisional reporting timetable for 2018/19 is as follows:

Date of AGM                                             25 February 2019
Publication of Interim Results                        13 May 2019
Preliminary Announcement                11 November 2019

Yours faithfully

Barrie R. J. Whipp

On behalf of
David L. Massie 
Executive Chairman 

29 January 2019

www.weyeducation.com



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Wey Education plc

Barrie Whipp (Interim Chairman)

Barrie is Executive Chairman of Crimson Tide plc (AIM: TIDE) which he founded in 1996 and 
formulated the ideas behind the group’s mpro5 solution in 2003. Barrie was appointed Interim 
Chairman on 21 November 2018 following the resignation of David Massie.

Previously, he founded the financial services arm of Tiphook plc and was Group Managing 
Director of IAF Group plc. He served as a non-executive Director of Wills Group plc as well as a 
number of private companies. 

Barrie has a particular interest in education, having served as a Governor of Frant Church of 
England Primary School for 8 years, latterly as Chair of Governors. He has an Honours degree in 
History from the Open University and currently studies online with the University of Derby.

Jacqueline Daniell (Executive Director)

Jacqueline is one of the founders of both Interhigh School and Academy21. She was previously 
the Chief Executive of Interhgh School where she led the operations and strategic direction with 
full responsibility for all the online school service delivery. Jacqueline was appointed Interim 
CEO on 21 November 2018.

Jacqueline studied Architecture at Nottingham University, and later gained Masters degrees 
both in Management and in Town and Country Planning. She spent much of her career working 
in Project Management, creating and implementing sustainable regeneration programmes both 
in the Midlands and in South Wales. In 2005 she became involved in the design of the online 
secondary School InterHigh,  gaining international and domestic Quality accreditations for this 
provision.

Tony Knowles (Executive Director)
Appointed 23 May 2018

Tony has over 25 years’ experience in Human Resource Management and has worked at Executive 
and Board level across a range of industry sectors. 

Tony attended the University of Central Lancashire and has a post graduate degree in personnel 
management. He has worked and led HR functions throughout the UK and EU as well as North 
America and Asia. Previously, he worked in Financial Services and more recently for a number of 
technology businesses successfully supporting acquisition and divestiture programmes.

Wey Education plc Annual Report 201809
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Barry Nichols-Grey (Executive Director)
Appointed 29 October 2018

Barry is a Chartered Accountant who qualified with PwC in 2012. Prior to joining Wey, he was 
Finance Director at Dezrez Services Limited, a SaaS provider to the UK estate agency industry.

Barry studied Economics at Royal Holloway, University of London and spent two years working 
at the Financial Services Authority before returning to Wales to commence his accountancy 
training and has a wide range of experience working with businesses ranging from start-ups to 
plcs.

John Bridges (Non-Executive Director)

John Bridges has worked in the City for over fifty years. The majority of his first twenty years was 
in institutional stockbroking and the remainder in public company corporate finance. 

Dame Erica Pienaar (Non-Executive Director)

Erica has a long and distinguished career in education and was appointed a Dame for her services 
to education in the 2014 Queen’s birthday honours list.

She was the Head Teacher of Prendergast School (Hilly Fields) from 1998 to 2008. At Crofton 
School (renamed Prendergast-Ladywell Fields College), Erica substantially improved the 
fortunes of the school which had been a struggling school with a falling student roll. 

Until her retirement in September 2013, she was Executive Head Teacher of the Leathersellers’ 
Federation of Schools. The Federation was established in September 2008 in Lewisham and 
comprises three Colleges: Prendergast-Hilly Fields College, Prendergast Ladywell Fields 
College and Prendergast-Vale College.

Erica chairs the group’s Academic Advisory Board, providing direction and steer on educational 
matters to the Board.

www.weyeducation.com



THE DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Wey Education plc

The directors present their report and the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 
31 August 2018.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The loss for the year amounted to £196,381 (2017 profit of £ 17,630). The directors have not 
recommended a dividend.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Details of the Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies are included in note 24 
to the accounts.

STRATEGIC REPORT

In accordance with section 414C(11) of the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and Directors’ 
Report) Regulations 2013, various matters previously dealt with in the Directors’ Report are now 
included in the Strategic Report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

The interests of the directors who served the Company during the year in the shares of the 
Company at the year end were as follows:

            31 August 31 August
           2018             2017
D.L. Massie            23,417,515 20,608,430
J.E.R. Bridges             500,000 533,333
J. K. Daniell            13,065,157 13,065,157
Dame E.C. Pienaar              200,000 -
B.R.J. Whipp                  21,000 21,000

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Approval was received by the court and the transfer became effective on 21 December 2018. 

Registered office:       Signed on behalf of the directors:
Third Floor         
43-44 New Bond Street      
London
W1S 2SA        Barrie R. J. Whipp    
         Director
         Approved January 2019

Wey Education plc Annual Report 201811
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STRATEGIC REPORT
Wey Education plc

The directors of the Group present their Strategic Report for the year ended 31 August 2018.  
The purpose of the Strategic Report is to enable shareholders to assess how the directors have 
performed their duty to promote the success of the Group.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES, STRATEGIC PRIORITIES AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

The Group is an online educational services group using an online platform to deliver teaching 
both in the UK and overseas. The Group operates two schools, a B2B business and an online 
language school.

The Group’s overall goal is to create value for shareholders through delivering education and 
services to customers in a profitable business model.

To achieve this the Group is pursuing the following strategic objectives:

• To increase the Group’s revenues by increasing the number of students who use the 
Group’s services; and

• To expand the Group’s operations into new geographical areas.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group and an indication of likely future developments including 
research and development can be found in the Executive Chairman’s Statement on pages 3 to 8.  

The directors consider that the financial key performance indicators are turnover, operating profit 
before depreciation, amortisation of acquired intangible assets, exceptional items and equity-
based share payments, earnings per share and the Group’s net debt/net cash.  For the year 
ended 31 August 2018 the non-financial key performance indicator was the implementation of 
the new online learning platform as discussed in the Executive Chairman’s statement.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The Board monitors the activities and performance of the Group on a regular basis.  The primary 
performance indicators for the Group are:

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

• Turnover for the year from continuing operations was £4,191,873 (2017: £2,429,055);
• Turnover included within the above figure relating to the acquisition of Academy 21 

Limited was £1,053,666. If the revenue for the full year was included the pro – forma 
revenue and loss for the year would have been £4,437,758 and £376,205 respectively

www.weyeducation.com
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• The operating loss of the Group for the year from continuing operations before 
depreciation, amortisation of acquired intangible assets, exceptional items and equity- 
based share awards was £228,613 (2017: £139,418);

• The loss per share from continuing operations was 0.16p (2017: profit of 0.02p per 
share); and 

• At 31 August 2018 the Group cash balance was £4,225,182 (2017: £1,005,120).

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The management of the business and the execution of the Group’s strategy are subject to a 
number of risks.  The key business risks affecting the Group are set out below.

Risks are reviewed by the Board and the appropriate processes are put in place to monitor and 
mitigate them.  If more than one event occurs, it is possible that the overall effect of such events 
would compound the possible adverse effects on the Group.

DEPENDENCE ON KEY PERSONNEL

The Group is dependent upon its directors both at the parent company level and at the 
subsidiary level.  The development and success of the Group depends on the Group’s ability 
to a) adequately fund its activities and b) recruit and retain high quality and experienced staff.  
The inability to attract additional qualified personnel as the Group grows could have an adverse 
effect on the future business and financial conditions.

FUNDING RISK

The Group may not be able to raise, either by debt or equity, sufficient funds to enable it to 
finance its future strategy or any identified acquisition.

IT SYSTEMS

The Group operates in a highly dependent IT environment and data held by the Group needs 
to be secure against a background of increasing cyber threat.  A breach of data security or 
IT systems failure could have an adverse impact on the delivery of the Group’s core product, 
potentially resulting in reputational damage. The risk is mitigated by the use of third party cloud 
hosting and software suppliers but similarly, breeches or system failures at those suppliers 
could have a knock-on effect to the Group.

BREXIT

The Board recognises the uncertainty around the implications of the UK’s exit from the EU and 
the exchange rate volatility which has occurred as a result of this.  The Board continues to monitor 
this situation particularly in light of the planned overseas expansion of the Group.

Wey Education plc Annual Report 201813
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As the exit negotiations progress throughout the coming years the Group will adapt its pricing 
policy, costings procedures and business practices accordingly. The Group does not expect 
BREXIT to have a material impact upon demand for its services but if anything it might be 
marginally positive.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board recognises the importance of both financial and non-financial controls.  Since the 
Group was established, the directors are satisfied that, given the current size and activities of 
the Group, adequate internal controls have been implemented. Whilst they are aware that no 
system can provide absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss, in light of the 
current activity and proposed future development of the Group, continuing reviews of internal 
controls will be undertaken to ensure that they are adequate and effective.

This Strategic Report was approved by the Board of Directors on January 2019.

Registered office:       Signed on behalf of the directors:
Third Floor         
43-44 New Bond Street           
London         
W1S 2SA        Barrie R. J. Whipp
         Director
         Approved 29 January 2019

www.weyeducation.com



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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INTRODUCTION

This statement is made by me, Barrie Whipp, as the Company’s Interim Chairman and explains 
the Company’s present corporate governance arrangements and the standards with which the 
Company complies.

The Company has elected to adopt and comply with the QCA Corporate Governance Code (the 
“QCA Code”). This statement reflects the structures that the Company has adopted in order to 
achieve compliance with the QCA Code. The Company’s website (the “Website”) provides further 
explanation as to the Company’s compliance with the ten key principles of the QCA Code. 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company (and thereby its group (the “Group”)) is ultimately managed by the directors of 
the Company (the “Directors”), who (individually and as a group) are responsible for running 
the Company for the benefit of its shareholders in accordance with their fiduciary and statutory 
duties. 

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) currently comprises six Directors: two Non-Executive 
Directors, the Interim Chairman and three Executive Directors (being the Interim CEO, the HR 
Director and the Finance Director). 

The Board has three standing committees (the “Committees”): the Audit Committee, the 
Remuneration Committee and the Legal Committee. The Terms of Reference for each of the 
Committees are available on the Website.

Audit Committee

The Audit committee has primary responsibility for monitoring the quality of internal controls 
and ensuring that the financial performance of the Group is properly measured and reported 
on. It receives and reviews reports from the Group’s management and auditors relating to the 
interim and annual accounts and the accounting and internal control systems in use throughout 
the Group. The audit committee meets no less than twice each year and has unrestricted access 
to the Group’s auditors. The audit committee comprises Barrie Whipp, as Chairman and John 
Bridges.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration committee reviews the performance of executive Directors and senior 
management and makes recommendations to the Board on matters relating to their remuneration 
and terms of employment.

Wey Education plc Annual Report 201815
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The remuneration committee also makes recommendations to the Board on proposals for the 
granting of share options and other equity incentives pursuant to any share option scheme or 
equity incentive scheme in operation from time to time. The remuneration committee will meet 
at least once each year. The remuneration committee comprises Barrie Whipp, as Chairman, 
John Bridges and Erica Pienaar.

The Remuneration committee has met during the year to consider the grant and exercise of EMI 
and unapproved share options to certain Executives and members of staff.

The Board does not have a formally-established nominations committee. All matters concerning 
the appointment and removal of Directors, and for Executive and Non-Executive Director 
succession planning are considered by the full Board (with any appointments subject to a 
shareholder vote at the next Annual General Meeting).

Legal Committee

The Legal committee considers matters relating to (a) the issue of and application for shares 
issued pursuant to option agreements, warrants etc. to be admitted to trading on AIM, the relevant 
instruction(s) to regulators, the registrar and the RNS announcement, (b) RNS announcements 
confirming factual matters such as the number of shares in issue and (c) RNS announcements 
containing factual information such as the date the results will be announced, the posting of the 
accounts or non-financial news, such as the appointment or resignation of a director. The Legal 
committee comprises of Barrie Nichols-Grey, John Bridges and Jacqueline Daniell.

INTERIM CHAIRMAN

In my role as Interim Chairman, I am responsible for:

• leading the Board and ensuring that all members are able to contribute to Board 
discussions and the wider running of the Group as appropriate;

• ensuring that the Company acts in the best interests of shareholders and other 
stakeholders; and

• the Group’s corporate governance arrangements.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Jacqueline Daniell is the Interim CEO and is responsible for managing Wey Education plc on a 
day to day basis within the authority delegated by the Board and ensuring that, alongside the 
Executive Team, that Board decisions are implemented effectively. In addition, the Interim CEO 
is responsible for supporting the Interim Chairman in his role.

Tony Knowles (appointed 23 May 2018) is the HR Director and is responsible for all people matters 
within the group.

www.weyeducation.com
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Barry Nichols-Grey (appointed 29 October 2018) is the Finance Director and is responsible for all 
finance matters within the group.

NON-EXECUTIVES

The Non-Executive Directors are John Bridges and Dame Erica Pienaar. All two non-executive 
directors are considered to be independent. 

The Non-Executive Directors challenge and scrutinise the performance of the Executive 
Directors, while supporting them in their delivery of the Company’s strategy and management 
of the Group’s risks.

THE COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is Barry Nichols-Grey and, in conjunction with me, he ensures that 
accurate, timely and clear information is provided to the Board in order for informed decisions 
and discussions to take place. 

The Company Secretary is responsible for advising the Board on governance matters and 
regulatory requirements. The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a matter 
reserved to the Board. All Directors have direct access to the Company Secretary and to 
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense as required. The Board (and its 
committees) have not sought external advice or engaged any external advisers in the year in 
relation to any significant matters.

TIME COMMITMENT OF DIRECTORS

The Executive Directors are full time and devote any time necessary to the role as required. 
None of the Executive Directors have any external appointments. 

Non-Executive Directors attend Board meetings quarterly (some two day, some one day). They 
also attend committee meetings and the Board considers that the Non-Executive Directors do 
exceed the expected time commitments for meetings, committees and ad-hoc events.

FREQUENCY OF MEETINGS

The Board meets at least four times a year and relevant information is distributed to Directors in 
advance of the meetings. 

The Group does not have a formal schedule of matters reserved to the Board but does maintain 
a delegated authority framework which is periodically reviewed and approved by the Board. 
Save for those matters delegated, the Board makes decisions on all material matters including 
strategy, annual operating and capital budgets, capital structure and financial and internal 
controls.
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Director’s attendance at Board and Committee meetings during the year was as follows:

  Board Meetings           Audit Committee        Legal Committee  Remuneration  
                   Committee
             Eligible   Attended       Eligible   Attended          Eligible   Attended            Eligible   Attended
D L Massie      4  4        2  2  2    2       5   5
J K Daniell      4  4        -             -  -    -       -   -
T K Knowles      1  1        -             -  -    -       -   -
J E R Bridges     4  4        2  2  2    2       5   5
E C Pienaar      4  4        -             -  -    -       5   5
B R J Whipp      4  4        2  2  2    2       -   -

EVALUATING BOARD PERFORMANCE

The Board has a number of sources of information from which it judges its own performance and 
that of the individual Directors, these include but are not limited to:

a. financial performance indicators including revenue, student numbers, gross margin, 
net margin, earnings per share and cash flow;

b. the Company’s share price;
c. reports from external auditors;shareholder feedback;
d. customer feedback; 
e. formal and informal reviews of its effectiveness by the Company’s nominated adviser; 

and
f. employee feedback.

All these factors are considered and action taken to improve performance as appropriate.

The Board will formally evaluate its own performance (whether itself, through its retained 
advisers, or by engaging external consultants) not less than once a year. A Board performance 
evaluation is due to take place in 2019.

Directors have access to professional courses where appropriate. Non-Executive Direcotrs 
ensure they keep current with appropriate regulations and Board-appropriate websites and 
current affairs.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board attaches a high priority to communication with shareholders having regard to its 
obligations as a quoted public company and the AIM Rules. The Group liaises regularly with 
major shareholders and there is an opportunity for individual shareholders to question the 
management of the Company through the Chairman at the Annual General Meeting as well as 
Investor Events held by the Company.
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CULTURE

The Board recognises that it has a unique position as an educational provider in that delivering 
educational outcomes must remain central to the Group’s business objectives and model. 
As such, the company promotes this culture at all levels of the organisation with policies and 
procedures designed to ensure that all staff maintain a continual focus on ensuring that students 
achieve their desired educational outcomes. 

The Board, led by its Chairman, promotes an open, honest and non-discriminatory culture. It 
extends this culture through the attendance of relevant managers at Board meetings. Staff are 
regularly updated in meetings, both of administrative and teaching staff.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board seeks to understand and manage the various risks that arise from its operations 
which include:

a. reputational risk;
b. contractual risk;
c. technical risk;
d. resourcing and infrastructure;
e. anti-corruption and compliance;
f. board and management succession; and
g. price and margin.

The Board has overall responsibility for risk management and the Group’s systems of internal 
controls.

Responsibility for implementing sound and effective systems of internal control has been 
delegated to the Executive Directors and senior management. 

Key risks to the Group’s business are recorded in a Group Risk Register and mitigants, controls 
and corrective actions are reviewed regularly by the Executive Directors and the Board. 

An organisational structure with clear operating procedures, lines of responsibility and delegated 
authority has been established and is kept under review. The purpose of the systems of internal 
control is to manage rather than eliminate the failure to achieve business objectives and can 
only provide reasonable, but no absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

CITY CODE ON TAKEOVERS AND MERGERS

The Company is subject to the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers.
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The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and Parent 
Company, financial statements (“the financial statements”) in accordance with applicable law 
and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and Parent Company financial statements 
for each financial period.  Under that law the directors have elected to prepare the Group and 
Parent Company financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union.  Under company law the directors must 
not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the Group and Parent Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for 
that period.  In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• follow applicable accounting standards, subject to any material departures disclosed 

and explained in the financial statements;
• state whether the financial statements comply with IFRSs as adopted by the European 

Union, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate 
to presume that the Parent Company or the Group as applicable will continue in 
business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to 
show and explain the Parent Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time the financial position of the Parent Company, and to enable them to ensure that 
the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.  They are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the Group and the Parent Company, and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial 
information included on the Company’s website.  Legislation in the United Kingdom governing 
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions.

In so far as the directors are aware:

• there is no relevant audit information of which the Group and Parent Company’s auditor 
is unaware; and

• the directors have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditor is aware of 
that information.
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Signed on behalf of the directors:

Barrie R J Whipp
Director
Approved 29 January 2019
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OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of Wey Education plc (the ‘Parent Company’) and its 
subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) for the year ended 31 August 2018 which comprise the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated and Company Balance Sheet, Consolidated 
and Company Statement of Changes in Equity, Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statement 
and related notes including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the Parent 
Company financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act 2006.

In our opinion:

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the 
Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 August 2018 and of the Group’s profit for the year 
then ended;

• the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs 
as adopted by the European Union;

• the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance 
with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and as applied in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2006.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) 
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Au-
ditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.  We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to 
listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. 

CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING CONCERN

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) 
require us to report to you where:

• the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the 
financial statements is not appropriate; or
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• the Directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material 
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months 
from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

OUR ASSESSMENT OF RISKS OF MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT

The assessed risks of material misstatement described below are those that had the greatest 
effect on our audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit and directing the efforts of 
the engagement team.

Risk

Management override of controls
Journals can be posted that significantly 
alter the Financial Statements.

Going Concern
There is a risk that the company may 
hold insufficient working capital to allow 
it to meet its financial obligations as 
they fall due thus giving rise to a going 
concern risk.

Fraud in Revenue Recognition
There is a risk that revenue is materially 
understated due to fraud.

Risk of material misstatement within 
related party transactions
There is the risk that related party 
transactions are potentially incomplete 
or materially misstated.

Disclosures
There is a risk of incorrect or incomplete 
disclosures in the financial statements.

How the scope of our audit responded to the risk

We examined journals posted around the year end, 
specifically focusing on areas which are more easily 
manipulated such as accruals, prepayments, bank 
reconciliations and tax.

Existing cash reserves have been evidenced and 
future cashflow forecasts have been reviewed to 
ensure sufficient cash headroom exists for a period 
of at least one year from the date of approving these 
financial statements.

Income was tested on a sample basis for 
completeness and we concluded that no evidence 
of fraud or other understatement was identified.

Correspondence, including Board Minutes, and 
accounting records were reviewed for evidence 
of material related party transactions and it is 
considered that all relevant items have been 
disclosed.

The financial statements have been reviewed and 
checks have been undertaken to ensure all material 
disclosure requirements have been met.
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Our audit procedures relating to these matters were designed in the context of our audit of 
the Financial Statements as a whole, and not to express an opinion on individual accounts or 
disclosures.  Our opinion on the Financial Statements is not modified with respect to any of the 
risks described above, and we do not express an opinion on these individual matters.

OUR APPLICATION OF MATERIALITY

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the Financial Statements that makes 
it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be 
changed or influenced.  We use materiality both in planning and in the scope of our audit work 
and in evaluating the results of our work.

We determine materiality for the Group to be £70,600 and this financial benchmark, which has 
been used throughout the audit, was determined by way of a standard formula being applied 
to key financial results and balances presented in the Financial Statements. Where considered 
relevant the materiality is adjusted to suit the specific area risk profile of the Group.  

OTHER INFORMATION

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information in the Group Strategic Report and the Directors Report but does not include the 
financial statements and our Report of the Auditors thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the 
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information.  If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

• the information given in the Group Strategic Report and the Directors Report for the 
financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the 
financial statements; and

• the Group Strategic Report and the Directors Report have been prepared in accordance 
with applicable legal requirements.
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MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Company and its 
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements 
in the Group Strategic Report or the Directors Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns 
adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

• the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting 
records and returns; or

• certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 20 the 
Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors determine necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and 
the Parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors 
either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

OUR RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue a Report 
of the Auditors that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located 
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This 
description forms part of our Report of the Auditors.  

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in a Report of 
the Auditor and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept 
or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a 
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Stewart Jell (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Shipleys LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
10 Orange Street
Haymarket
London
WC2H 7DQ

Date: 29 January 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018
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 Note 

Year 
ended 

31 August 
2018 

 Year 
ended 

31 August 
2017 

CONTINUING OPERATIONS  £  £ 
     
REVENUE 3 4,191,873  2,429,055 
     

Cost of sales  (1,950,045)  (1,221,009) 

     
GROSS PROFIT  2,241,828  1,208,046 
     
Administrative expenses  (2,253,582)  (1,206,450) 
     
Equity based share awards 4 (95,452)  (107,555) 
     
Equity based share payments 4 -  (33,000) 

Exceptional income 4 
 

7,500 
 

 156,533 

Exceptional costs 4 (130,603)  - 
 
Other operating income 

 
 

 
400 

 
 

- 
     
OPERATING PROFIT / (LOSS) 4 (229,909)  17,574 
 
Interest income 

 
 

433 
 

 
56 

     
PROFIT / (LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION  (229,476)  17,630 
     
Taxation        5 33,095  - 
     
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 
FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 

 (196,381)  17,630 

     
Profit / (Loss) from discontinued operations  -  - 
     

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  (196,381)  17,630 

     
Earnings per share 8    

Basic Earnings per share      (0.16p)        0.02p 
Diluted Earnings per share  (0.16p)  0.02p 

     
 

The Group has no recognised gains or losses other than the results for the year as set out above.

The notes on pages 33 to 65 form part of these 
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 AUGUST 2018

Wey Education plc

 Note 

31 
August 

2018 

31 
August 

2017 
  £ £ 
    
NON CURRENT ASSETS    
Goodwill 10 1,630,939 201,217 
Intangible assets 12 562,645 737,119 
Tangible fixed assets 13 188,859 102,378 
Total non current assets  2,382,443 1,040,714 
    
CURRENT ASSETS    
Trade and other receivables 14 732,234 266,246 
Cash and cash equivalents 15 4,225,182 1,005,120 
Total current assets  4,957,416 1,271,366 
    
TOTAL ASSETS  7,339,859 2,312,080 
    
    
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    
    
EQUITY AND RESERVES    
Share capital 19 1,307,072 1,039,685 
Share premium 20 7,515,023 2,868,263 
Option reserve 20 110,323 77,288 
Retained earnings 20 (2,498,969) (2,323,251) 
Total equity and reserves  6,473,449 1,661,985 
    
CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Trade and other payables 16 203,253 167,899 
Accruals, deferred income, receipts in advance 
and refundable deposits 

17 703,157 482,196 

Total current liabilities  906,410 650,095 
    
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  7,339,859 2,312,080 
 

These financial statements were approved by the directors and authorised for issue on 29 January 2019 
and are signed on their behalf by:

Barrie R. J. Whipp
Director
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 Note 

31 
August 

2018 

31 
August 

2017 
  £ £ 
    
NON CURRENT ASSETS    
Goodwill 10 1,630,939 201,217 
Intangible assets 12 562,645 737,119 
Tangible fixed assets 13 188,859 102,378 
Total non current assets  2,382,443 1,040,714 
    
CURRENT ASSETS    
Trade and other receivables 14 732,234 266,246 
Cash and cash equivalents 15 4,225,182 1,005,120 
Total current assets  4,957,416 1,271,366 
    
TOTAL ASSETS  7,339,859 2,312,080 
    
    
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    
    
EQUITY AND RESERVES    
Share capital 19 1,307,072 1,039,685 
Share premium 20 7,515,023 2,868,263 
Option reserve 20 110,323 77,288 
Retained earnings 20 (2,498,969) (2,323,251) 
Total equity and reserves  6,473,449 1,661,985 
    
CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Trade and other payables 16 203,253 167,899 
Accruals, deferred income, receipts in advance 
and refundable deposits 

17 703,157 482,196 

Total current liabilities  906,410 650,095 
    
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  7,339,859 2,312,080 
 



The notes on pages 33 to 65 form part of these 
financial statements.

COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018

Wey Education plc

 Note 

31 
August 

2018 

31 
August 

2017 
  £ £ 
    
NON CURRENT ASSETS    
Investment in subsidiaries 9 1,925,332 106 
Intangible fixed assets 12 270,843 293,786 
Tangible fixed assets 13 145,979 76,057 

Total non current assets  2,342,154 369,949 
    
CURRENT ASSETS    
Trade and other receivables 14 199,559 629,289 
Cash and cash equivalents 15 2,910,212 430,772 

Total current assets  3,109,771 1,060,061 
    
TOTAL ASSETS  5,451,925 1,430,010 
    
    
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    
    
EQUITY AND RESERVES    
Share capital 19 1,307,072 1,039,685 
Share premium 20 7,515,023 2,868,263 
Option reserve 20 110,323 77,288 
Retained earnings 20 (3,796,906) (2,744,397) 

Total equity and reserves  5,135,512 1,240,839 
    
CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Trade and other payables 16 201,255 167,807 
Accruals, deferred income, receipts in advance 
and refundable deposits 

17 115,158 21,364 

Total current liabilities  316,413 189,171 
    
    

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  5,451,925 1,430,010 
 

These financial statements were approved by the directors and authorised for issue on 29 January 2019 
and are signed on their behalf by:

Barrie R. J. Whipp
Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018

Wey Education plc

 
Share 

Capital 
Share 

Premium 
Option 

Reserve 
Retained 
Earnings 

Total 

 £ £ £ £ £ 
      
At 1 September 2016 957,712 2,695,844 48,135 (2,409,283) 1,292,408 
      
Comprehensive Income      
Profit for the year - - - 17,630 17,630 
Total Comprehensive Income - - - 17,630 17,630 
      
Transaction with owners      
Issue of shares for cash - - - - - 
Issue of shares for deferred 
consideration 

26,404 75,250 - - 101,654 

Equity based share payments 8,505 24,495 - - 33,000 
Exercise of share options 47,064 72,674 (77,182) 67,182 109,738 
Transfer on lapsing of share options - - (1,220) 1,220 - 
Equity based share awards - - 107,555 - 107,555 
Total Transaction with owners 81,973 172,419 29,153 68,402 351,947 
      
At 1 September 2017 1,039,685 2,868,263 77,288 (2,323,251) 1,661,985 
      
Comprehensive Income      
Loss for the year - - - (196,381) (196,381) 
Total Comprehensive Income - - - (196,381) (196,381) 
      
Transaction with owners      
Issue of shares for cash 227,273 4,772,727 - - 5,000,000 
Exercise of share options and 
warrants 

40,114 157,954 20,663 20,663 198,068 

Expenses associated with share issue  (283,921)   (283,921) 
Equity based share awards - - 53,698 - 53,698 
      
Total Transaction with owners 267,387 4,646,760 33,035 20,663 4,967,845 
      
At 31 August 2018 1,307,072 7,515,023 110,323 (2,498,969) 6,433,449 
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The notes on pages 33 to 65 form part of these 
financial statements.

 
Share 

Capital 
Share 

Premium 
Option 

Reserve 
Retained 
Earnings 

Total 

 £ £ £ £ £ 
      
At 1 September 2016 957,712 2,695,844 48,135 (2,386,908) 1,314,783 
      
Comprehensive Income      
Loss for the year - - - (425,891) (425,891) 

Total Comprehensive Income - - - (425,891) (425,891) 
      
Transaction with owners      
Issue of shares for cash - - - - - 
Issue of shares for deferred consideration 26,404 75,250 - - 101,654 
Equity based share payments 8,505 24,495 - - 33,000 
Exercise of share options 47,064 72,674 (77,182) 67,182 109,738 
Transfer on lapsing of share options - - (1,220) 1,220 - 
Equity based share awards - - 107,555 - 107,555 
Total Transaction with owners 81,973 172,419 29,153 68,402 351,947 
      
At 1 September 2017 1,039,685 2,868,263 77,288 (2,744,397) 1,240,839 
      
Comprehensive Income      
Loss for the year - - - (1,073,172) (1,073,172) 

Total Comprehensive Income - - - (1,073,172) (1,073,172) 
      
Transaction with owners 
 

     

Issue of shares for cash 227,273 4,772,727 - - 5,000,000 
Exercise of share options and warrants 40,114 157,954 (20,663) 20,663 198,068 
Expenses associated with issue of shares  (283,921)   (283,921) 
Equity based share awards - - 53,698 - 53,698 
      
Total Transaction with owners 267,387 4,646,760 33,035 20,663 4,967,845 
      
At 31 August 2018 1,307,072 7,515,023 110,323 (3,796,906) 5,135,512 
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  GROUP COMPANY 

  

31 
August 

2018 

31 
August 
2017 

31 
August 

2018 

31 
August 

2017 
  £ £ £ £ 
Cash flows from operating activities      
Profit / (Loss) before taxation  (229,476)      17,630 (1,103.870) (425,891) 
      
Adjustments for:      
 Amortisation  189,378 160,000 29,379 - 
 Depreciation  36,479 10,823 27,335 6,143 
 Loss on disposal of fixed assets  - 544 - 544 
 Finance costs  (433) (56) (25,972) (30,216) 
 Equity based share payments  - 33,000 - 33,000 
   Equity based share awards  53,698 107,555 53,698 107,555 
    Taxation  33,095 - 30,698 0 
      
Changes in working capital:      

 Trade and other receivables  (206,494) (49,142) 429,730 250,136 
 Trade and other payables  (64,626) 46,343 33,448 131,799 

       Accruals, deferred income, receipts in advance 
and refundable deposits  

(50,480) 112,394 
 

93,794 
 

(15,914) 

      

Net cash generated from / (used in) operating 
activities 

 (238,859) 439,091 (431,760) 57,156 

      
Cash flow from financing activities      
Issue of shares  4,914,147 109,738 4,914,147 109,738 

 
Net cash generated from financing activities  

 
4,914,147 

 
109,738 4,914,147 109,738 

      
      
Cash flow from investing activities      
Acquisition of business net of cash  (1,338,279) (101,654) - - 
Investment in subsidiaries    (1,925,226)  
Interest received/(paid)  433 56 25,972 30,216 
Proceeds from sale of assets  - 83 - 83 
Purchase of intangible assets  (14,904) (267,388) (6,436) (267,388) 
Purchase of fixed assets  (102,476) (84,748) (97,257) (74,489) 
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing 
activities  

(1,455,226) (453,651) (2,002,947) (311,578) 

      
      
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents  

3,220,062 95,178 2,479,440 (144,684) 

      

Cash and cash equivalents brought forward  
1,005,120 909,942 430,772 575,456 

      

Cash and cash equivalents carried forward  4,225,182 1,005,120 2,910,212 430,772 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018

Wey Education plc

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Wey Education plc is a public limited company, registered number 06342555, listed on the AIM 
market of the London Stock Exchange, incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales.  Its 
registered office and business address is Third Floor, 43 - 44 New Bond Street, London W1S 2SA.  
The nature of the Group’s operations and principal activities are set out on page 12.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs adopted for use by 
the European Union (“EU”).

The directors have, at the time of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation 
that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future and at least 12 months from the approval of these accounts and have concluded that it is 
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements of the Group.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.  Details of the 
significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are set out below.  The financial statements 
are presented in sterling.

2.2 New standards issued but not yet effected

At the date of approval, the following standards and interpretations which have not been applied 
in these consolidated financial statements were in issue but are only effective for financial years 
beginning on or after 1 September 2018.

• IFRS 9: Financial Instruments – effective 1 January 2018
• IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers – effective 1 January 2018
• Clarification and Measurement of Share Based Payment Transactions – Amendments 

to IFRS 2 – effective 1 January 2018
• IFRS16 – Leases – effective 1 January 2019

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments is effective for the first time for the year commencing 1 September 
2018. The implementation of IFRS9 will require the group to recognise a loss allowance at an 
amount equal to lifetime expected credit allowances. The impact upon the financial statements 
is not expected to be material.
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IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with customers is effective for the first time for the financial 
year commencing 1 September 2018. The impact upon the financial statements is not expected 
to be material. 

IFRS 16: Leases will require the Group to record its current property leases on the statement of 
financial position. The leases impacted are currently treated as operating expenses. The change 
in recognition is expected to increase future depreciation charges and lead to a reduction in 
operating expenses. Future commitments under operating leases are outlined in Note 18 which 
gives some indication of the impact on the Group going forward. However, given that IFRS 16 is 
not effective for the Group until 1 September 2019 then a full assessment of its impact has not 
yet been made and therefore the impact upon the Group is currently unknown.

There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected 
to have a material impact on the Group.

2.3 Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of Wey Education plc (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 August 2018.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting 
rights.  The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or 
convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. 

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations.  On acquisition 
the assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities of subsidiaries are measured at their fair values 
at the date of acquisition.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent 
company, using consistent accounting policies.  All inter-company balances and transactions, 
including unrealised profits arising from them, are eliminated.  Subsidiaries are fully consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred out of the Group.

Definitions used in these financial statements are as follows:

The Company  Wey Education plc
The Group  Wey Education plc;
   Wey Consultancy Limited;
   Wey ecademy Limited; 
   InterHigh Education Limited;
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   InterHigh Education (No 1) Limited;
   Infinite Education Limited;
   Infinite Education (No 1) Limited; 
   Quoralexis Learning Limited;
   Academy 21 Limited;
   Wey Education Nigeria Limited (a company incorporated in Nigeria); 
   Wey Education Limited (a company incorporated in Kenya); and 
   Wey Education Consulting (Beijing) Limited (a company incorporated in   
   China)

Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and 
the fair value of non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed.

As a consolidated statement of comprehensive income is published, a separate statement of 
comprehensive income for the parent company is omitted from the Group financial statements 
by virtue of section 408 of the Companies Act 2006.  The loss dealt with the in the financial 
statements of the parent company was £1,073,172 (2017: £425,891).

2.4 Revenue Recognition

Turnover is stated net of VAT and trade discounts and is recognised when the significant risks 
and rewards are considered to have been transferred to the customer.  Turnover from the supply 
of services represents the value of services provided under contracts to the extent that there is a 
right to consideration and is recorded at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  
Where a contract has only been partially completed at the balance sheet date turnover 
represents the fair value of the service provided to date based on the stage of completion of 
the contract activity at the balance sheet date.  Where payments are received from customers 
in advance of services provided, the amounts are recorded as deferred income and included 
as part of creditors due within one year.  Deposits received from customers are not recognised 
as income.  At the end of the contract they are returned to customers or set-off against amount 
due from the customer.

2.5 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to 
the chief operating decision maker.  The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for 
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified 
as the Board of Directors that makes strategic decisions.  The turnover relating to the education 
services occur in a number of regions as set out in note 3.
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2.6 Cash flow

The Group has elected to disclose its cash flows from operating activities using the indirect 
method that requires the profit or loss to be adjusted for the effects of non-cash movements, 
changes in working capital and items relating to investing and finance activities.

2.7 Share-based payments and awards

The cost of share-based employee compensation arrangements, whereby directors and 
employees receive remuneration in the form of shares or share options and share-based 
payments to suppliers, is recognised as an expense in the income statement.  The total expense 
to be apportioned over the vesting period of the benefit is determined by reference to the fair 
value (excluding the effect of non market-based vesting conditions) at the date of grant.  The 
assumptions underlying the number of awards expected to vest are subsequently adjusted for 
the effects of non market-based vesting to reflect the conditions prevailing at the balance sheet 
date.  Fair value is measured by the use of a Black-Scholes pricing model.  The expected life 
used in the model has been adjusted, based on the directors’ best estimate, for the effects of the 
non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.  An Option Reserve has 
been established and contains the share options which are outstanding at the balance sheet 
date.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, an incremental value is calculated 
as the difference between the fair value of the repriced option and the fair value of the original 
option at the date of re-pricing.  This incremental value is then recognised as an expense over 
the remaining vesting period in addition to the amount recognised in respect of the original 
option grant.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled or settled (that is, cancelled with some form of 
compensation) it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation and any expense not 
yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.  However, if a new award is substituted 
for the cancelled award and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, 
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as 
described in the previous paragraph.  Any compensation paid up to the fair value of the award is 
accounted for as a deduction from equity.  Where an award is cancelled by forfeiture, when the 
vesting conditions are not satisfied, any costs already recognised are reversed).

2.8 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The preparation of financial information requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the historical 
financial information and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period. 
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Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or 
actions, actual events ultimately may differ from those estimates.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historic experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances.

The Company makes certain estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting 
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates 
are significant to the historical financial information are considered to relate to:

Business combinations
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of the InterHigh Business and the entire issued 
share capital of Academy21 Limited is the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred and any equity interest issued.  The consideration transferred includes the fair value of 
any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.  Acquisition related 
costs are expensed as incurred in the income statement.

Identifiable assets and contingent assets acquired and identifiable liabilities and contingent 
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date.  The determination of fair values often requires significant judgements and the 
use of estimates.  The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of any previous equity interest in the 
acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.

Carrying value of goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units (‘CGU’) to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation 
requires management to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGU and 
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value.  The estimation of the timing and 
value of underlying projected cash flows and selection of appropriate discount rates involves 
management judgment.  Subsequent changes to these estimates or judgments may impact the 
carrying value of the goodwill, which at 31 August 2018 was £1,630,939 (2017: £201,217) (note 10).

Impairment of trade receivables
Management have undertaken an assessment in recognising provisions and contingencies.  A 
provision for the impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence 
that the Company will not be able to collect all outstanding amounts in full due to the receivables 
being classified as ‘bad’ or there are indications that the collection is ‘doubtful’.
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The amount of any loss is recognised in the income statement within administrative expenses.  
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against administrative 
expenses in the income statement.  The gross amount of trade receivables at 31 August 2018 is 
£663,858 (2017: £266,246) and the associated provision is £93,181 (2017: £54,181).

Fair value of equity-settled share-based payments
The calculation of the fair value of equity-settled share based awards and the resulting charge 
to the statement of comprehensive income requires assumptions to be made regarding future 
events and market conditions.  These assumptions include the future volatility of the Company’s 
share price.  These assumptions are then applied to a recognised valuation model in order to 
calculate the fair value of the awards.

2.9 Taxation

Current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, is provided at amounts expected to 
be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, in respect of temporary differences 
between the carrying amount of the Group’s assets and liabilities and their tax base.  Deferred 
tax liabilities are offset against deferred tax assets within the same taxable entity or qualifying 
local tax group. 

In the UK, the Company is entitled to a tax deduction for amounts treated as compensation 
on the exercise of certain options.  As explained in note 23 a share-based payment charge is 
recorded in the income statement from the grant date and over the vesting period.  As there is a 
temporary difference between the accounting and tax bases, a deferred tax asset is calculated 
by comparing the estimated amount of tax deduction to be obtained in the future, based on the 
Group’s share price at the balance sheet date, with the cumulative amount of the share-based 
payment charge recorded in the income statement.  A deferred tax asset is not recorded if the 
tax deduction is not expected to crystallise.

Any remaining deferred tax asset is recognised only when, on the basis of all available evidence, 
it can be regarded as probable that there will be suitable taxable profits, within the same 
jurisdiction, in the foreseeable future against which the deductible temporary difference can be 
utilised.

Deferred tax is determined using tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which 
the asset is realised or liability settled, based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
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Current and deferred tax are recognised in the income statement, except when the tax relates 
to items charged or credited directly in equity, in which case the tax is also recognised in equity.

2.10 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 
new ordinary shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.11 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s balance sheet when the 
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

2.12 Exceptional items

Transactions which are material by virtue of their size or incidence are disclosed as exceptional 
items.

2.13 Financial assets

All financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale 
of a financial asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the 
timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus 
transaction costs.

All the Group’s financial assets are classified as ‘trade and other receivables’.  The classification 
depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial 
recognition. 

2.14 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market are classified as loans and receivables.  Loans and receivables 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.  Interest 
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables 
when the recognition of interest would be immaterial. 

Trade receivables, which generally have 30-60 day terms, are recognised and carried at original 
invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts.
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An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable.  
Bad debts are written off when identified.

2.15 Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset 
and of allocating interest income over the relevant period.  The effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or 
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a 
shorter period.

2.16 Cash and cash equivalents

In the Company’s cash flow statement and balance sheet cash and cash equivalents includes 
cash at bank.

2.17 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities include trade and other payables, and debt instruments issued by the 
Group.

2.18 Trade and other payables

Trade payables, which generally have 30-60 day terms, are recognised initially and carried at 
original invoice value.  The Group considers there are no significant differences between the 
nominal value and fair value of trade and other payables.

2.19 Intangible assets

Goodwill
Intangible assets comprise goodwill obtained on the acquisition of the InterHigh business and 
the acquisition of the entire share capital of Academy 21 Limited on 22nd December 2017. See 
note 10 for further information.

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Company’s 
share of the net identifiable assets of the acquired business at the date of acquisition.  Goodwill is 
tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying value may be impaired and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses.

Goodwill is allocated to CGUs for the purpose of impairment testing.
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A CGU is identified at the lowest aggregation of assets that generate largely independent cash 
inflows, and that which is looked at by management for monitoring and managing the business.  

If the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to 
the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.  
Any impairment is recognised immediately in the income statement and is not reversed.  Gains 
and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the 
entity sold.  

Other intangible assets
Purchased software and internally developed software: Software acquired by the Company which 
has a finite useful life is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.  Expenditure on the research phase of projects to develop new customised 
software is recognised as an expense as incurred. 

Costs that are directly attributable to a project’s development phase are recognised as 
intangible assets, provided they meet the following criteria:

• the development cost can be measured reliably;
• the project is technically feasible and viable;
• the Company intends to and has sufficient resources to complete the project;
• the Company has the ability to use or sell the software; and
• the software will generate probable future economic benefits.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.  
Intangible assets arising on acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses are recognised separately 
from goodwill if the fair value of these assets can be identified separately and measured reliably.

Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the intangible 
asset.  The useful life of the Group’s intangible assets are between 2 and 10 years with a current 
net book value of £562,645 (2017: £737,119).  The useful life of the Company’s intangibles asset is 
between 5 and 10 years, with a current net book value of £270,847 (2017: £293,786).

Impairment reviews are carried out annually or if events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying value of an asset may be impaired.  An impairment loss is recognised in the income 
statement when the asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount.  Its recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
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2.20 Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses.  Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of 
the items.  Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a 
separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated 
with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  The 
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.  All other repairs and maintenance are 
charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
life of the item, as follows:

   Office equipment   20% on cost and 33.33% on cost
         Fixtures and Fittings   10% on cost
          Leasehold Improvements    20% on cost

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
balance sheet date.  An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable 
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying 
amount and are recognised in the income statement.

2.21 Impairment

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired.  Assets that are not available for use are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment.  Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed 
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  For the purposes of assessing impairment, 
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 
(cash-generating units).  Non-financial assets that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible 
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.22 Operating leases

Operating leases under which a significant amount of the risks and benefits of ownership are 
effectively retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases.
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Operating lease payments are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the 
period of the respective leases.

2.23 Employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service payment due on retirement or 
termination are recognised when they accrue to the employees.  A provision is made for the 
estimated liability for annual leave and long-service payment as a result of services rendered by 
employees up to the balance sheet date.  The estimated liability is calculated net of expected 
reduction from benefits available from social security funds. 
 
Employee entitlements to sick leave and other non-accumulating compensated absences are 
not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension contributions paid to or on behalf of employees are expensed as they accrue. 

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the Company commits itself to 
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by having a 
detailed formal plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

2.24 Provisions

Provisions are recognised if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated.  Provisions are discounted to 
present value where the effect is material.

The Company recognises a provision for deferred consideration at fair value.  Where this is 
contingent on future performance or a future event, judgement is exercised in establishing the 
fair value.

The Company recognises a provision for onerous lease contracts when the expected benefits to 
be derived from a contract are less than the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under 
the contract.

2.25 Pension contributions

The pension arrangements do not constitute a future obligation to the Group.  Where contractually 
obliged the Company will contribute an additional amount into the relevant individual’s scheme.  
Company contributions to the scheme are charged to the income statement in the same period 
as services are rendered by the relevant employee.
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3 GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS OF TURNOVER

 UK Europe 
Middle 

East Africa 
Other 

countries Total 
2018 £ £ £ £ £ £ 
Online Education 3,553,063 275,949 183,715 29,531 132,064 4,174,322 
Other 17,551 - - - - 17,551 
       
Total 3,570,614 275,949 183,715 29,531 132,064 4,191,873 
       
2017 £ £ £ £ £ £ 
Online Education 1,830,809 246,493 165,777 54,123 106,719 2,403,921 
Other 25,134 - - - - 25,134 
       
Total 1,855,943 246,493 165,777 54,123 106,719 2,429,055 
       

 Sales are allocated based on the country in which the customer is located.
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4  PROFIT / (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

The profit/(loss) for the year from continuing activities is stated after charging:

                 2018 2017
             £  £
Depreciation                        36,479 10,823
Amortisation           189,378  160,000
Operating lease costs – land and buildings       38,208
Equity based share awards          95,452 107,555
Equity based share payments        - 33,000
Exceptional items  
 - Acquisition costs                     42,970  -
 - Legal costs            18,343  -
 - Overseas ventures          69,290 -
 - Litigation net (receipts)/costs        (7,500) (156,533)
Directors remuneration         188,468 87,091
Auditors remuneration: Audit fees         17,000 12,000
Auditors remuneration: Other fees          12,425  10,000

The exceptional costs for acquisition relate to the purchase of the share capital of Academy21 
Limited. 

The exceptional legal costs relate to:

• the restructuring of the company’s share capital which was approved by shareholders 
on 24th September 2018 and became effective on 21 December 2018 following Court 
approval; and

• the costs related to renegotiation of staff contracts. 

The exceptional costs relating to overseas ventures relate to the legal and professional costs 
related to obtaining the necessary consents and licences to operate in certain overseas territories. 

The Company had been in litigation with its previous CEO, Zenna Atkins (also known as Zenna 
Hopkins), and obtained judgment against her in the High Court in July 2016 on a number of 
matters including breach of fiduciary duty. The Company was also awarded the costs of the 
action. The matter of costs was resolved during the prior year by negotiation rather than detailed 
assessment and the quantum of the cost paid is subject to a confidentiality agreement.
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The amount recorded in the profit and loss account reflects the net payment received in 2017/18 
and 2016/17 after the Company’s own expenses in relation to the matter. During 2017/18 the 
Company agreed a final payment with Ms Atkins for its Employment Tribunal costs which has 
been received and this litigation is completed.  The company expects no further transactions 
relating to this issue.

Directors remuneration in the prior year is stated net of proceeds from the exercise of share 
options of £126,000  and amounts capitalised during the development of the new Learning 
Platform of £55,417. 

5 TAXATION

There was no taxation for the Group in the year due to the Company making tax losses during 
the year and tax losses brought forward.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss per the income statement as follows:

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the extent that the realisation 
of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable.  The Group did not recognise 
deferred tax assets of £468,446 (2016: £370,842) in respect of losses carried forward amounting 
to £2,465,505 (2016: £1,951,802) as it does not yet anticipate being able to offset these against 
future profits or gains in the near-term future in order to realise any economic benefit.

 

 Year 
ended 

31 August 
2018 

 Year  
ended 

31 August 
2017 

  £                    £ 
(Loss) /Profit before tax  (229,476) 17,630 
    
Tax credit/(charge) at 19.00% (2017: 19.58%)  43,600 (3,452) 
Effect of:    
Income not taxable  - 39,167 
 Non-deductible items  (37,679) (32,351) 
 Capital Allowances  20,300 14,704 
Adjustment in respect of previous years  (662) - 
Consolidation adjustments  (5,004) - 
Enhanced relief for research and development 
expenditure 

 94,347 - 

Group relief and losses  (81,807) (18,068) 

Tax (credit)/charge for the year  (33,095) - 
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6 STAFF COSTS AND EMPLOYEES

                2018  2017
            £  £
Directors’ remuneration        161,200 268,507
Wages and salaries                 2,245,541 1,447,008
Equity based share payments                    91,631 107,555
Proceeds from share option exercise       - (126,000)
Directors Pensions                      10,390 7,434
Staff Pensions                      41,450 6,692
Social security costs                   222,350 145,226
                   2,772,562 1,856,422

The average monthly number of employees (including directors) was:

           2018 2017
               Number Number
Sales and administration            94  47

Key management personnel, as defined by IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ have been identified 
as the Board of Directors, as the controls operated by the Group ensure that all key decisions are 
reserved for the Board of Directors.  Detailed disclosures of the directors’ individual’s remuneration 
and pension contributions and the aggregate amount of key management remuneration for 
those directors who served during the year are set out in note 7.

7 DIRECTORS REMUNERATION

 Fees/Salary Other Pension 4 
2018 

Total 
2017 
Total 

 £ £ £ £ £ 
Current Directors      
D.L. Massie 1 33,000 10,000 - 43,000 33,000 
J.E.R. Bridges 13,200 - - 13,200 13,200 
J. K. Daniell 70,000 1,044 10,000 81,044 50,834 
A.G. Knowles2 19,500 - 390 19,890 - 
Dame E.C. Pienaar 13,200 4,934 - 18,134 15,210 
B.R.J. Whipp  13,200 - - 13,200 38,226 
 162,100 15,978 10,390 188,468 150,470 
      
Past Directors      
T.A. Scott 3 - - - - 152,481 

 162,100 15,978 10,390 188,468 302,951 
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Mr. Tom Scott an Executive Director left the Company during 2017. As of his severance 
arrangements, Mr. Scott was allowed to exercise options over a total of 1.4 million shares at 4.5p 
per share but, under circumstances where the shares were sold in the market the proceeds of 
such, net of the option exercise price would be paid to the Company to mitigate the costs of the 
redundancy payment made to Mr. Tom Scott.

Mr. Tom Scott retains an option over 200,000 shares in the Company, exercisable at 4.5p no 
earlier than 13 April 2018 subject to various performance conditions.

Mr. Tom Scott has agreed that if following exercise of the option, he decides to sell such shares, 
the transaction will be processed through the Company’s Broker.

During the year, the cost of equity based share awards relating to the Directors amounted to 
£56,283 (2017: £97,959).

1. Until 31 October 2017 when Mr Massie became Executive Chairman, he was paid through 
Massie & Co, a partnership. From 1 November 2017, he was paid directly by Wey Education 
plc. As from 1 July 2015 he was entitled to be reimbursed for secretarial support at the rate 
of £1,000 per month.  Massie & Co, which provided the secretarial support was paid £12,000 
in the year (2017: £12,000).

2. Appointed 23 May 2018
3. Resigned 13 April 2017. 
4. The Company does not operate a pension scheme for directors but where contractually 

obliged makes contributions to an individuals nominated scheme.  There are no benefits 
accruing under any pension scheme.
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8 PROFIT PER SHARE

The basic profit per share has been calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to 
equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during 
the year. 

No diluted earnings per share is presented for the year ended 31 August 2018 or the previous 
year as the effect on the exercise of share options would be to decrease the loss per share.

           2018  2017
  
                Number Number
Weighted average number of shares     122,934,180 98,904,014
  
    
Profit / (Loss) for the year            (196,381) 17,630
  
               (196,381) 17,630
  
Basic and diluted (loss) / profit per share  
  

- from continuing activities               (0.16p)   0.02p
  
                   (0.16p)  0.02p
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9 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES
          
Cost £
At 31 August 2017        106
Additions in the year       1,925,226
At 31 August 2018         1,925,332

Wey Education plc holds 100% of the share capital of the following companies, all of which are 
held directly:

                %      Country of  
     Subsidiary undertaking        Ownership Incorporation   Class         Activity
    
Wey Education Services Limited1 100%       England and Wales Ordinary           Non-trading
Wey ecademy Limited  100%       England and Wales Ordinary  Education
InterHigh Education Limited  100%       England and Wales Ordinary Education
InterHigh Education (No 1) Limited 100%       England and Wales Ordinary Education
Infinite Education Limited  100%       England and Wales Ordinary Education
Infinite Education (No 1) Limited 100%       England and Wales Ordinary Education
Quoralexis Learning Limited  100%       England and Wales Ordinary Education
Wey Education Limited  100%      Kenya  Ordinary Education
Wey Education Consulting  100%      China  Ordinary Education
(Beijing) Limited
Wey Education Nigeria Limited 100%      Nigeria  Ordinary Education

On 22 March 2018 the company incorporated Wey Education Consulting (Beijing) Limited, a 
company incorporated in China. The company was formed with registered capital of £200,000. 

On 25 April 2018 the company incorporated Wey Education Limited, a company incorporated 
in Kenya. The company issued 10,000 ordinary shares of KES 1,000 to Wey Education plc, the 
subscriber to the memorandum and articles of the company.

On 10 July 2018 the company incorporated Wey Education Nigeria Limited, a company 
incorporated in Kenya. The company issued 8,000,000 ordinary shares of N1 to Wey Education 
plc, the subscriber to the memorandum and articles of the company. The shares are unpaid as 
at 31 August 2018. 

1Name changed from Wey Consultancy Limited to Wey Education Services Limited on 15 August 2018
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10 GOODWILL

Goodwill represents the following: 

• the excess of the consideration transferred and transferable, over the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets acquired in relation to the InterHigh business. The net book 
value at 31 August 2018 was £201,217 (2017: £201,217); and 

• the excess of the consideration transferred and transferable, over the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets acquired in relation to the entity Academy 21 Limited. The net 
book value at 31 August 2018 was £1,429,722  

Goodwill arising on business combinations (representing the excess of fair value of the 
consideration given over the fair value of the separable net assets acquired) is capitalised, and its 
subsequent measurement is based on annual impairment reviews, with any impairment losses 
recognised immediately in the income statement. Direct costs of acquisition are recognised 
immediately in the income statement as an expense.

11 ACQUISITION OF ACADEMY 21 LIMITED

On 22 December 2017, Wey Education plc acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Academy 
21 Limited, an online educational business that provides a range of Key Stage 3, GCSE and iGCSE 
programmes to pupils who have been referred by local authorities and schools across the UK. 
The acquisition has significantly increased the group’s presence in the business to business 
segment of online education and complements the group’s existing Wey Ecademy business.

 Group  Company 
 £  £ 
Cost    
Balance at 31 August 2017 277,617  76,400 
Additions during the year 1,429,722  - 
Balance at 31 August 2018 1,707,339  76,400 
    
Amortisation    
Balance at 31 August 2017 and at 31 August 2018 76,400  76,400 
    

Net Book Value    
At 31 August 2018 1,630,939  - 

At 31 August 2017 201,217  - 
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Details of the purchase consideration, net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

                      £
Additions in the year         1,593,376
Deferred consideration1                    6,624
Total purchase consideration       1,600,000

The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition are as follows:

            Fair value
             £
Cash             261,721
Fixed assets            20,484
Trade receivables           169,435
Other debtors           76,948
Tax receivable           13,111
Trade payables           (8,938)
Other creditors           (91,042)
Deferred income           (271,441)
            170,275
             
Add goodwill           1,429,722
Total purchase consideration         1,600,000 

There were no acquisitions in the year ended 31 August 2017. 

Revenue and profit contribution

The acquired business contributed revenues of £1,053,666 and net profit of £290,971 to the group 
for the period from 22 December 2017 to 31 August 2018. 

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 September 2017, consolidated pro-forma revenue and loss 
for the year ended 31 August 2018 would have been £4,437,758 and £415,981 respectively. 

Acquisition related costs

Acquisition related costs of £42,970 are included within exceptional costs. 

1Deferred consideration of £6,624 was payable based upon the collection of certain debtor balances 

following the transaction. The deferred consideration has been settled fully for cash during the year 

ended 31 August 2018. 
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12 INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 
          

Software acquired in material business combinations is capitalised at its fair value as determined 
by the directors.  Software in development is capitalised with related development costs and 
once complete will be written off over the estimated economic life.  The net book value at 31 
August 2018 of £387,511 (2016: £490,453) consisted of £264,408 (2017: £293,786) of software 
developed which will be written off over its remaining estimated useful economic life of 9 years, 
£116,667 (2017: £196,667) for software acquired which will be written off over an estimated 
remaining useful economic life of 1.4 years and £6,436 of software in development which will be 
written off over its estimated useful economic life once it is brought into use. 

Other intangible assets include the technology platform and the electronic library of materials 
which were acquired in material business combinations and have been capitalised at fair value 
as determined by the directors.  The net book value at 31 August 2018 of £102,083 (2017: £172,083) 
will be written off over an estimated remaining useful economic life of 1.4 years.

Trademarks and brands acquired in material business combinations is capitalised at its fair value 
as determined by the directors.  The net book value at 31 August 2018 consists of £64,583 (2017: 
£74,583) will be written off over an estimated remaining useful economic life of 6.4 years and 
£8,468 (2017: £Nil) which will be written off over an estimated remaining useful economic life of 
9.6 years.

GROUP 

Software 

Other 
Intangible 

Assets 

Trade 
Marks 

and 
Brands Total 

 £ £ £ £ 
Cost     
At 31 August 2017 693,786 350,000 100,000 1,143,786 
Developed in the year 6,346 - 8,468 14,904 

At 31 August 2018 700,222 350,000 108,468 1,158,690 
     
Amortisation     
At 31 August 2017 203,333 177,917 25,417 406,667 
Charge for the year 109,378 70,000 10,000 189,378 

At 31 August 2018 312,711 247,917 35,417 596,045 
     
Net Book Value     
At 31 August 2018 387,511 102,083 73,051 562,645 

At 31 August 2017 490,453 172,083 74,583 737,119 
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The amortisation expense for the year and prior year are included in administration expenses.
          

Software in development is capitalised with related development costs and once complete 
will be written off over the estimated economic life.  The net book value at 31 August 2018 of 
£270,843 (2017: £293,786) consisted of £ 293,786 (2017: £293,786) of software developed which 
will be written off over its remaining estimated useful economic life of 9 (2017: 10) years, and 
£6,436 of software in development which will be written off over its estimated useful economic 
life once it is brought into use.

COMPANY Software 
Development Total 

 £ £ 
Cost   
At 31 August 2017 293,786 293,786 
Developed in the year 6,436 6,436 

At 31 August 2018 300,222 300,222 
   
Amortisation   
At 31 August 2017 - - 
Charge for the year  29,379 29,379 

At 31 August 2018 29,379 29,379 
   
Net Book Value   
At 31 August 2018 270,843 270,843 

At 31 August 2017 293,786 293,786 

   
 

www.weyeducation.com



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018

Wey Education plc

13 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 
          

GROUP Leasehold 
Improvements 

£ 

Office 
Equipment 

£ 
Total 

£ 
Cost    
At 31 August 2017 22,857 107,780 130,637 
Additions 60,086 42,390 102,476 
Acquired on acquisition - 37,088 37,088 

At 31 August 2018 82,943 187,258 270,201 
    
Depreciation    
At 31 August 2017 6,118 22,141 28,259 
Charge for the year 6,059 30,420 36,479 
Acquired on acquisition - 16,604 16,604 

At 31 August 2018 12,177 69,165 81,342 

    
Net Book Value    

At 31 August 2018 70,766 118,093 188,859 
    
At 31 August 2017 16,739 85,639 102,378 

 

COMPANY Leasehold 
Improvements 

£ 

Office 
Equipment 

£ 
Total 

£ 
Cost    
At 31 August 2017 22,857 71,704 94,561 
Additions 60,086 37,171 97,257 
Disposals    
At 31 August 2018 82,943 108,875 191,818 
    
Depreciation    
At 31 August 2017 6,118 12,386 18,504 
Charge for the year 6,059 21,276 27,335 
Eliminated on disposal    
At 31 August 2018 12,177 33,662 45,839 
    
Net Book Value    
At 31 August 2018 70,766 75,213 145,979 
    
At 31 August 2017 16,739 59,318 76,057 
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14 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
          

All trade and other receivables are receivable within twelve months from the end of the reporting 
period. The net carrying value of trade receivables is considered a reasonable approximation for 
fair value. As at 31 August 2018, trade receivables of £93,181 (2017: £54,181) were considered to 
be impaired and have been provided for.

15 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

16 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

All trade and other payables are payable within twelve months from the end of the reporting 
period.

 Group Company 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 £ £ £ £ 
Trade receivables 570,677 172,793 - - 
Amounts due from Group undertakings - - 56,978 553,370 
Other debtors 62,592 11,644 58,099 4,809 
VAT recoverable - 24,575 - 24,557 
Prepayments and accrued income 98,965 57,234 84,482 46,553 

 732,234 266,246 199,559 629,289 
 

 Group Company 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 £ £ £ £ 
     

Cash at bank 4,225,182 1,005,120 2,910,212 430,772 

 

 Group Company 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 £ £ £ £ 
Trade payables 93,964 111,184 81,108 102,304 
Other creditors 8,070 6,555 5,822 3,374 
Social security and other taxes 75,180 48,060 37,278 10,819 
VAT Payable 26,039 2,100 26,393 - 
Amounts due to Group undertakings - - 50,654 51,310 

 203,253 167,899 201,255 167,807 
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17 ACCRUALS, DEFERRED INCOME, RECEIPTS IN ADVANCE AND REFUNDABLE    
 DEPOSITS
          

18 COMMITMENTS 

(a) Capital Commitments

Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised 
as liabilities is as follows:

(b) Non-cancellable operating leases 

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are set out below: 

 Group Company 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 £ £ £ £ 
Accruals 132,174 29,960 115,158 21,364 
Deferred income 24,683 34,442 - - 
Receipts in advance 180,653 265,772 - - 
Refundable deposits 365,647 152,022 - - 

 703,157 482,196 115,158 21,364 
 

 Group Company 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 £ £ £ £ 

Intangible assets 66,700 - 66,700 - 

 

Land and Buildings Group Company 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 £ £ £ £ 
Operating lease commitments:     
Within one year 110,600 25,000 110,600 25,000 
Second to fifth year inclusive 178,504 100,000 178,504 100,000 
After five years - 63,172 - 63,172 

 289,104 188,172 289,104 188,172 
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19 SHARE CAPITAL
          

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to dividends as declared by the Company from time to 
time and are entitled to one vote per share at general meetings of the Company.

On 15 November 2017 the Company placed a total of 22,727,273 ordinary shares of £0.01 each at 
an issue price of £0.22 per share raising gross total proceeds of £5.0 million. 

On 30 May 2018 the Company issued 3,511,536 ordinary shares of £0.01 each at an issue price of 
£0.05 per share as a result of a Warrant exercise.

On 29 August 2018 the Company issued 500,000 ordinary shares of £0.01 at an issue price of 
£0.045 as a result of an Option exercise.

 2018 2017 
 Number £ Number £ 
     

Ordinary shares of £0.01 each 130,707,120 1,307,071 103,968,491 1,039,685 
 

GROUP 
Share 

Premium 
Option 
Reserve 

Retained 
Earnings 

 £ £ £ 
At 31 August 2016 2,695,844 48,135 (2,409,283) 
 
Issue of shares for deferred consideration  75,250 - - 
Profit for the year - - 17,630 
Equity based share payment 24,495 - - 
Exercise of share options 72,674 (77,182) 67,182 
Transfer on lapsing of share options - (1,220) 1,220 
Equity based share awards - 107,555 - 
    
At 31 August 2017 2,868,263 77,288 (2,323,251) 
 
Issue of shares for cash 4,772,727 - - 
Expenses of share issue (283,921)   
Loss for the year - - (196,381) 
Exercise of share options and warrants 157,954 (20,663) 20,663 
Equity based share awards - 53,698 - 
    
At 31 August 2018 7,515,023 110,323 (2,498,969) 
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COMPANY 

Share 
Premium 

Option 
Reserve Retained 

Earnings 
 £ £ £ 
At 31 August 2016 2,695,844 48,135 (2,386,908) 
 
Issue of shares for deferred consideration 75,250 - - 
Loss for the year - - (425,891) 
Equity based share payment 24,495 - - 
Exercise of share options 72,674 (77,182) 67,182 
Transfer on lapsing of share options - (1,220) 1,220 
Equity based share awards - 107,555 - 
    
At 31 August 2017 2,868,263 77,288 (2,744,397) 
 
Issue of shares for cash 4,772,727 - - 
Expenses of share issue (283,921)   
Loss for the year - - (1,073,172) 
Exercise of share options and warrants 157,954 (20,663) 20,663 
Equity based share awards - 53,698 - 
Equity based share awards    
    
At 31 August 2018 7,515,023 110,323 (3,796,906) 

 

The Share Premium reserve represents the premium arising from the issue of equity shares net 
of any issue expenses.

The Option Reserve represents the cumulative fair value in relation to the issue, exercise and 
lapsing of share options. 

The Retained Earnings reserve represents the cumulative profits and losses of the Group or the 
Company. 

On 24 September 2018 at a General Meeting, shareholders voted to effect a capital reduction, 
transferring £6,000,000 from share premium to retained earnings. This puts the Company in a 
position of having distributable reserves. The transfer became effective on 21 December 2018 
following Court approval. 

21 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

At 31 August 2018 the outstanding debt owed by Wey ecademy Limited (formerly Wey 
Consultancy Limited) to the Company was £35,670 (2017: payable of £51,309).
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During the year to 31 August 2018 the Company charged Wey ecademy Limited a management 
fee of £30,000 (2017: £Nil) and invoiced personnel costs amounting to £112,560 (2017: Nil).

During the year to 31 August 2018 the Company charged InterHigh Education Limited a 
management fee of £79,200 (£66,000 plus VAT) (2016: £72,000).  At 31 August 2018 the outstanding 
debt owed by InterHigh Education Limited to Wey Education plc was £10,450 (2017: £549,880).  
Interest accrues on this debt at 5.0 per cent. per annum and during the year this amounted to 
£25,600 (2017: £30,216).

During the year to 31 August 2018 the Company paid Dame E Pienaar, £4,934 (2017: £2,010) in 
relation to education services provided to the management of Wey Education Plc.  

During the year to 31 August 2018 the Company paid Mr B Whipp, £Nil (2017: £25,000) in relation 
to the Company’s development of the new Learning Platform.  

During the year to 31 August 2017 the Company entered into an agreement with IAF (Corporate 
Finance) LLP, a Limited liability partnership in which Mr D. Massie is a partner, under which IAF 
(Corporate Finance) LLP provided office accommodation and secretarial services.  In accordance 
with this agreement IAF (Corporate Finance) LLP received £79,831 (2017: £60,000).  As at 31 
August 2018 the balance due to IAF (Corporate Finance) LLP amounted to £17,121 (2017: £Nil).

During the year to 31 August 2016 the Company had an agreement with Massie & Co, a partnership 
in which Mr D. Massie is a partner, under which Massie & Co provided office accommodation and 
secretarial services.  In accordance with this agreement Massie & Co received £12,000 (2017: 
£12,000).  As at 31 August 2018 the balance due to Massie & Co amounted to £Nil (2017: £1,000).

During the year to 31 August 2018, the Company paid Director’s fees of £5,500 to Massie
and Co.

During the year to 31 August 2017, the Company issued 850,514 shares in lieu of Director’s Fees 
of £33,000 to Massie & Co.

At 31 August 2018 Wey Education Services Limited (formerly Wey Consultancy Limited) owed 
the Company £Nil (2017: £100).

At 31 August 2018 Infinite Education Limited owed the Company £1,264 (2017: (£1,507)).

At 31 August 2018 Infinite Education (No 1) Limited owed the Company £682 (2017: (£984)).
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At 31 August 2018 Quoralexis Learning Limited owed the Company £76 (2017: (£999)).

At 31 August 2018 the Company owed InterHigh Education (No 1) Limited £Nil (2017: (£1)).

At 31 August 2018 the Company owed Academy21 Limited £600 (2017: (£Nil)).

22 CONTROLLING PARTY

In the opinion of the directors there is no one controlling party. 

23 SHARE OPTIONS AND WARRANTS 

The Group has a share option scheme for certain directors and employees.  Share options are 
normally exercisable at a price equal to the mid-market price of the shares in the Company at 
the date of the grant.  The share options vest immediately or during a period of 3 years and some 
are subject to various performance criteria.  The share options are settled in equity if exercised.

The reconciliation of share options during the year ended 31 August 2018 is shown below:

 
 Number 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 
price (p) 

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
life (years) 

Number 
exercisable 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 
price (p) 

At 31 August 2016 10,869,316 8.86 4.39 3,050,000 2.98 
Granted in the year 5,960,353 4.45 - - - 
Exercised in the year (4,316,666) - - - - 
Lapsed in the year (3,157,000) - - - - 
  

At 31 August 2017 9,356,003 3.16 8.24 
1,000,00

0 
4.50 

Granted in the year 7,465,800 17.3 - - - 
Exercised in the year (500,000) - - - - 
Lapsed in the year (163,934) - - - - 

At 31 August 2018 16,157,869   4,833,333 1.81 
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The 11,324,536 (2016: 8,356,003) Options which are not exercisable at 31 August 2018 consist of: 

• 3,822,670 (2016: 3,822,670) ordinary shares granted between February 2016 and   
January 2017 vest based on various non-market based corporate performance   
criteria and 3 years after grant and are exercisable at prices of between 4.0p and   
4.5p;

• Nil (2017: 1,000,000) ordinary shares granted between April 2015 and February   
2016 vest 3 years after grant which are exercisable at prices between 4.0p and 4.5p;

• Nil (2017: 3,333,333) ordinary shares granted in December 2015 vest conditional on the 
Company’s share price performance; 

• 200,000 (2017: 200,000) ordinary shares granted in February 2015 vest conditional on 
the Company’s share price performance and 3 years after grant; 

• 422,343 ordinary shares granted in January 2018 vest based on various non – market 
based corporate performance criteria and 3 years after grant and are exercisable at a 
price of 30.5p;

• 3,000,000 ordinary shares granted May 2018 vest conditional on the Company’s share 
price performance vest conditional on the Company’s share price performance and 3 
years after grant and are exercisable at a price of 16.7p; and 

• 3,879,523 ordinary shares granted in June 2018 vest based on various non-market 
based corporate performance criteria and 3 years after grant and are exercisable at 
prices of 15.7p

Share Warrants

The reconciliation of warrants during the year ended 31 August 2018 is shown below:

 
 Number 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 
price (p) 

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual 

life (years) 
    
At 31 August 2016 3,134,072 4.91 1.71 
Issued in the year 850,514 3.88  
Exercised in the year (389,706)   
Effect of share issue on warrants 183,199 5.00  

At 31 August 2017 3,778,078 4.75 1.59 

Issued in the year    
Effect of share issue on warrants 583,792 5.000  
Exercised in the year (3,511,356)   

At 31 August 2018 850,514 3.88 3.50 
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At 31 August 2017, there were two warrants in issue. One was granted to Mr Massie (Executive 
Chairman) as part of his remuneration in 2016/17 over 850,514 shares exercisable at 3.88p until 
February 2022.

The second warrant was issued to IAF Capital Limited on 11 March 2011 and is exercisable in 
full or in part at any time at a price of 5.0p per ordinary share over 2.5% of the fully diluted share 
capital of the Company.  The warrant was exercised on 30 May 2018.

Measurement of Fair Values

The fair value of warrants and options granted during the year is calculated at the date of grant 
using a Black-Scholes option pricing model.  The weighted average fair value of warrants and 
options granted during the year ended 31 August 2018 determined using the Black-Scholes 
valuation model was 2.86p per warrant or option.  The significant inputs into the model were:

• Share price at the date of grant between 15.7p and 30.5p
• Exercise price of 15.71p, 16.7p, 30.5p
• Volatility of 10% based on comparative companies in the sector
• Dividend yield of 0%
• Risk free interest rate of between 0.7% and 0.9%
• Expected option/warrant life of between 3 and 10 years

The Company recognised a total expense of £91,631 (2016: £107,555) in respect of share based 
awards.

24 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial risk management objectives

The Company’s financial instruments comprise cash and various other items, such as trade 
payables and trade receivables that arise directly from its operations.  The Company’s exposure 
to its financial instruments are not material and therefore derivative financial instruments are not 
used to manage them.

The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments can be analysed as follows:

Credit risk
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and credit exposures to customers.

Price risk
The Company does not currently hold any investments available-for-sale and therefore has no 
exposure to securities price risk.
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YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018

Wey Education plc

Foreign currency risk
The Company has no significant transactions or balances denominated in foreign currencies and 
holds all cash balances in sterling.  The directors do not consider the Company to be subject to 
currency risk.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is managed through an assessment of short, medium and long-term cash flow 
forecasts to ensure the adequacy of working capital.  Short-term liquidity is managed through 
short-term borrowing facilities and short-term deposits.

Cash flow interest rate risk
The Company has no borrowings and on cash balances receives variable rate interest based on 
UK bank base rates.

Capital Management

The directors consider the Company’s capital to comprise of share capital and reserves stated 
on the Statement of Financial Position. The Company’s objective is to provide sufficient resources 
to allow the Company to expand as outlined in the Chairman’s Statement and to safeguard the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for 
shareholders.

The Company manages capital by regularly monitoring its working capital and liquidity 
requirements. The share capital and reserves totalling £6,473,449 (2017: £1,661,985) provide the 
majority of the working capital requirements required by the Company. The Company is not 
subject to internally or externally imposed capital requirements.

Financial instruments categories and carrying values

This note provides details of the Group’s financial instruments.  Except where otherwise stated, 
the disclosures in this note exclude retirement benefit assets and obligations.

Liabilities or assets that are not contractual (such as income taxes that are created as a result of 
statutory requirements imposed by governments, prepayments, deferred government grants, 
provisions and deferred income) are not financial assets or financial liabilities and accordingly 
are excluded from the disclosures provided in this note.  The carrying amounts of the financial 
assets and financial liabilities set out below are a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted for each class of financial 
asset and financial liability are disclosed in the accounting policies note.
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The gains, losses, income and expenditure from financial instruments are set out below:

 Group Company 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 £ £ £ £ 
Financial Assets     

Trade receivables 570,677 172,793 - - 
Amounts due from Group 
undertakings 

- - 56,978 553,370 

Other debtors 102,368 11,644 100,272 4,809 
Cash at bank 4,225,182 1,005,120 2,910,212 430,772 
 4,898,227 1,189,557 3,067,462 988,951 
     
Financial Liabilities     
Trade payables 93,964 111,184 81,108 102,304 
Accruals  132,174 29,960 115,158 21,634 
Other creditors 8,070 6,555 5,822 3,374 
Amounts due to Group undertakings - - 50,654 51,310 
 234,208 147,699 252,742 178,352 
     
Net Financial Assets 4,603,632 1,041,858 2,745,333 810,599 

 

 Group Company 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 £ £ £ £ 
     
Interest receivable 433 56 25,972 30,216 
Interest payable - - - - 
Trade debtor’s impairment  (58,274) (35,530) - - 
 (57,841) (35,474) 25,972 30,216 
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Wey Education plc

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting (Meeting) of Wey Education plc 
(Company) will be held at 43-44 New Bond Street, Mayfair, London W1S 2SA on Monday, 25 
February 2019 at 4.00 p.m. for the purpose of the following:

As Ordinary Business

To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions which will be proposed as ordinary 
resolutions:

1. To receive and adopt the Company’s annual accounts for the financial year ended 31 August 
2018 together with the directors’ report and auditor’s report on those accounts;

2. To re-appoint Shipleys LLP as auditor of the Company (“Auditor”) to hold office from the 
conclusion of this Meeting until the conclusion of the next meeting at which accounts 
are laid before the Company, and in connection with such appointment, to authorise the 
directors to agree the remuneration of the Auditor;

3. To reappoint Barrie Whipp as a director of the Company, who retires as a director in 
accordance with article 89 of the Company’s articles of association (“Articles”) and who 
now offers himself for re-appointment;

4. To reappoint Dame Erica Pienaar as a director of the Company, who retires as a director in 
accordance with article 89 of the Articles and who now offers herself for re-appointment;

5. To reappoint John Bridges as a director of the Company, who retires as a director in 
accordance with article 89 of the Articles and who now offers himself for re-appointment;

6. To reappoint Jacqueline Daniell as a director of the Company, who retires as a director in 
accordance with article 89 of the Articles and who now offers herself for re-appointment.

7. To confirm the appointment of Barry Nichols-Grey, who has been appointed since the last 
AGM as director of the Company; and

8. To confirm the appointment of Anthony Knowles, who has been appointed since the last 
AGM as director of the Company.

9. That in accordance with section 551 of the Companies Act 2006, as amended (the “Act”), 
the Directors be generally and unconditionally authorised, in substitution for all existing 
authorities granted to the Board pursuant to section 551 of the Act, to allot relevant securities 
in the Company (within the meaning of section 551(1) of the Act) or grant rights to subscribe 
for or to convert any security into shares:
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a. up to a maximum aggregate nominal value amount of £400,000;
b. comprising equity securities (as defined in section 560(1) of the Act) up to the nominal 

amount of £400,000 in connection with an offer by way of a rights issue;

i. to ordinary shareholders in proportion (as nearly as may be practicable) to their 
existing holdings; and

ii. to holders of other equity securities as required by the rights of those securities or 
as the directors otherwise consider necessary,

but subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors may deem necessary or 
expedient in relation to treasury shares, fractional entitlements, record dates, legal or practical 
problems in or under the laws of any territory or the requirements of any regulatory body or 
stock exchange.

The authorities conferred on the directors under paragraphs (a) and (b)  will expire fifteen months 
after the resolutions are passed or, if earlier, at the date of the next annual general meeting of 
the Company, but so that the Company may, before the expiry of such period, make an offer or 
agreement which would or might require relevant securities to be allotted after the expiry of such 
period and the directors may allot relevant securities pursuant to such an offer or agreement as 
if the authorities had not expired.

As Special Business

10.     That, subject to passing of the resolution numbered 9 above, the directors be and they 
are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised pursuant to section 570 of the Act to allot 
equity securities (within the meaning of section 560 of the Act) for cash pursuant to the general 
authority conferred by the resolution numbered 9 above as if subsection (1) of section 561 of the 
Act did not apply to any such allotment provided that this power shall be limited:

a. to allotments of such equity securities in connection with or pursuant to an offer by way 
of rights, open offer or other pre-emptive offer to the holders  of shares in the Company 
and other persons entitled to participate therein in proportion (as nearly as practicable) 
to their respective holdings, subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the 
directors may consider necessary or expedient to deal with fractional entitlements 
or legal or practical problems under the laws of any territory or the regulation or 
requirements of any regulatory authority or any stock exchange in any territory; and 

b. to the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (a) above) of equity 
securities up to an aggregate nominal value of £130,707.12 representing 10% of the 
Company’s issued ordinary share capital;
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and such authority shall expire on the conclusion of the Company’s next annual general 
meeting or fifteen months following approval of the resolution, whichever is sooner, save that 
the Company may before such expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might require 
equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the Board may allot equity securities in 
pursuance of such an offer or agreement as if the power conferred hereby had not expired.

11.     That the Company be and is generally authorised for the purposes of section 701 of the Act 
to make one or more market purchases (within the meaning of section 693(4) of the Act) of 
its ordinary shares of 1 pence each provided that:

a. the maximum aggregate number of ordinary shares that may be purchased is 13,070,712;
b. the minimum price which may be paid for each ordinary share is 1 pence;
c. the maximum price which may be paid for each ordinary share is not more than 110 per 

cent. of the average of the middle market quotations for an ordinary share for the five 
business days immediately preceding the day of purchase; and

d. unless previously renewed, varied or revoked, the authority conferred by this resolution 
shall expire at the conclusion of the Company’s next annual general meeting save that 
the Company may make a contract or contracts to purchase ordinary shares under the 
authority conferred by this resolution prior to the expiry of such authority which will or 
may be executed wholly or partly after the expiry of such authority and may make a 
purchase of ordinary shares in pursuance of any such contract or contracts.

By order of the Board         

Barry Nichols-Grey
Company Secretary
Dated: 29 January 2019 

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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Registered office
Third Floor

43-44 New Bond Street
London 

W1S 2SA
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NOTES TO THE NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Entitlement to attend and vote

1. Only those shareholders registered in the Company’s register of members at:

• 6.00 pm on 23 February 2019; or,
• if this meeting is adjourned, at 6.00 pm on the day two days prior to the adjourned 

meeting,

shall be entitled to attend, speak and vote at the meeting. Changes to the register of members 
after the relevant deadline shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend 
and vote at the meeting.

Website giving information regarding the meeting

2. Information regarding the meeting, including the information required by section 311A of 
the Companies Act 2006, can be found at https://www.weyeducation.com/.

Appointment of proxies

3. If you are a shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote at the meeting, you are entitled 
to appoint one or more proxies to exercise all or any of your rights to attend, speak and 
vote at the meeting and you should have received a proxy form. A proxy does not need to 
be a shareholder of the Company but must attend the meeting to represent you. You can 
only appoint a proxy using the procedures set out in these notes and the notes to the proxy 
form.

4. You may appoint more than one proxy provided each proxy is appointed to exercise the 
rights attached to a different share or shares held by that shareholder. To appoint more than 
one proxy, please contact Neville Registrars at Neville House, Steelpark Road, Halesowen 
B62 8HD. You will need to state clearly on each proxy form the number of shares in relation 
to which the proxy is appointed. Failure to specify the number of shares to which each proxy 
appointment relates or specifying a number in excess of those held by the shareholder will 
result in the proxy appointment being invalid. If you wish your proxy to speak on your behalf 
at the meeting you will need to appoint your own choice of proxy (not the chairman) and 
give your instructions directly to them.

5. To be valid, the form of proxy and the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which 
it is signed (or a notarially certified copy of such power of authority) must be deposited at 
the offices of Neville Registrars at Neville House, Steelpark Road, Halesowen B62 8HD.  by 
4:00 p.m. on 23 February 2019.
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To change your proxy instructions simply submit a new proxy appointment using the methods 
set out above.  Note that the cut-of time for receipt of proxy appointments also applies in relation 
to amended instructions; any amended proxy appointment received after the relevant cut-of 
time will be disregarded.

6. CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic 
proxy appointment service may do so for the meeting and any adjournment(s) thereof by 
using the procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST personal members or other 
CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed a voting 
service provider(s) should refer to their CREST sponsors or voting service provider(s), who 
will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf.  In order for a proxy appointment 
or instruction made by means of CREST to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a 
“CREST Proxy Instruction”) must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear 
UK & Ireland Limited’s specifications and must contain the information required for such 
instructions, as described in the CREST Manual.  The message must be transmitted so as 
to be received by the Company’s agent, Neville Registrars (CREST Participant ID: 7RA11), 
no later than 48 hours before the time appointed for the meeting.  For this purpose, the 
time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the time stamp applied to 
the message by the CREST Application Host) from which the Company’s agent is able to 
retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. CREST 
members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service provider(s) should 
note that Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited does not make available special procedures in 
CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore 
apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions.  It is the responsibility of the 
CREST member concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal member 
or sponsored member or has appointed a voting service provider(s), to procure that his 
CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be necessary to 
ensure that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular 
time.  In this connection, CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or 
voting service provider(s) are referred in particular to those sections of the CREST Manual 
concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings.  The Company may treat 
as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5) of the 
Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001.

Questions at the meeting 

7. Any member attending the meeting has the right to ask questions. The Company must 
answer any question you ask relating to the business being dealt with at the meeting unless:

• Answering the question would interfere unduly with the preparation for the meeting or 
involve the disclosure of confidential information.
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• The answer has already been given on a website in the form of an answer to a question.
• It is undesirable in the interests of the Company or the good order of the meeting that 

the question be answered.

Communication

Except as provided above, shareholders who have general queries about the meeting should use 
the following means of communication (no other methods of communication will be accepted):

Email : info@wedu.co.uk

You may not use any electronic address provided either:

• In this notice of annual general meeting; or
• Any related documents (including the chairman’s letter and proxy form),

to communicate with the Company for any purposes other than those expressly stated.
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If you are planning to attend the Annual General Meeting, please tick the following box:


>123-0

Resolutions (*Special Resolutions)

The Notice of Annual General Meeting to which this Proxy Form relates and the Report and Accounts are available on the Company's website at www.weyeducation.com

FORM OF PROXYWey Education plc
(Registered in England and Wales with company number 6342555)

I⧸We _________________________________________________ being (a) member(s) of the Company and entitled to vote at the Annual General Meeting, hereby appoint

(Please only complete if appointing someone other than the Chairman of the Meeting)

or failing him⧸her, the Chairman of the Meeting as my⧸our proxy, to attend, speak and vote for me⧸us and on my⧸our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company, to be held on 25 February 2019 at 
43-44 New Bond Street, Mayfair, London, W1S 2SA at 4:00 p.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

Leave blank to authorise your proxy to act in relation to your full entitlement or 
enter the number of shares in relation to which your proxy is authorised to vote:

D D M M Y Y

Mark this box with an "X" if you are appointing more than one proxy:

Date:
Signed:

1 To receive and consider the Report of the Directors and the 
audited Annual Accounts to 31 August 2018

2 To reappoint Shipleys LLP as auditors and authorise the Directors 
to fix their remuneration

3 To reappoint Barrie Whipp as a Director of the Company

4 To reappoint Dame Erica Pienaar as a Director of the Company

5 To reappoint John Bridges as a Director of the Company

6 To reappoint Jacqueline Daniell as a Director of the Company

7 To confirm the appointment of Barry Nichols-Grey as director of 
the company

8 To confirm the appointment of Tony Knowles as director of the 
company

9 To authorise the directors to allot shares up to a nominal value of 
£400,000

10* To disapply pre-emption rights pursuant to the authority granted 
by Resolution 9

11* To authorise the Directors to purchase the Company's shares 
under section 701 of the Companies Act 2006

1 A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and, on a poll, vote in his place. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2 To be valid, this form of proxy must be signed and lodged with the Company's registrars, Neville Registrars Limited, not later than 48 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the meeting. Any power of attorney or 
other authority must be lodged with this form.

3 In the case of a corporation, this form must be signed as a deed or under he hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised in that behalf.

4 In the case of joint holders, the signature of any one holder will be sufficient but the names of all joint holders should be stated.

5 Completion and return of a form of proxy will not prevent a member from attending the meeting and voting in person should the member so wish.

6 Please see the AGM Notice for further advice on how to appoint⧸instruct proxies via CREST.

NOTICE OF AVAILABILITY

NOTES TO THE FORM OF PROXY

Please complete and return this Form of Proxy to the Registrar at the address shown overleaf. If you wish to use an envelope, please address it to 'FREEPOST NEVILLE'. If it is posted outside the United 
Kingdom, please return it in an envelope using the address shown overleaf and pay the appropriate postage charge.
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   Name 
   Address 1 
   Address 2 
   Address 3 
   Address 4 
   Address 5 
   Address 6 

The Annual General Meeting will start at 
4:00 p.m. and is being held on 25 February 
2019 at 43-44 New Bond Street, Mayfair, 
London, W1S 2SA. 
If you plan to attend the Annual General 
Meeting, please bring this card with you 
to ensure you gain entry as quickly as 
possible. 
Please present this card at the registration 
desk. It will be used to show that you have 
the right to attend, speak and vote at the 
Annual General Meeting. 
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